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Reshaping Damascus:
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Stefan Weber

Cities are heterogeneous structures of social organization. Thousands of men and
women carry out their daily lives within this complex urban system and leave their mark
on the city's appearance. Cities are an expression of the collective action of their inhabi-
tants, corresponding to cultural traditions, given urban and natural environments, peo-
ple's understanding of urban space, historical developments, and concepts of cultural
identity. Cultural changes, often accompanied by shifts in individual and collective
identities, can be observed where human action takes place: in public and private archi-
tecture as well as in the general urban fabric. Urban centers are shaped by conventions
and organization of a society in the same way that houses are influenced by individual
tastes and the requirements of organization of private life. In this sense the physical
appearance of cities provide a rich source for the study of urban culture — especially in

' I'would like to thank Steven MacPhillips for his patient help with e Engligh text and Jens Hanssen and
especially Marianne Bogvist for their critical reading.
This material is part of a survey on Ottoman architeciyre in Damascus, which is financed by the Deutsche
Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) and the Deutsches Archdologisches Institul (DAI), The profect is located
at the DA! in Damascus and is supported by the Syrian Service of Antiquities. T wonid like to express my
thanks to these institutions. Some of the material and subjects presented here have been already trested in
other anticles of mine and will be indicated respectively. A detailed documentation of the buildings men-
tioned in this article will not be given here, but is can be found in 8, Weber, “Zeugnisse kulturellery Wan-
dels; Stadt, Architekur und Gesellscha® des spétosmanischen Damaskus im Usbruch (1808-191 B)”, un-
published Ph.D. thesis, Freie Universitdt Berlin 2001,
The Syrian Nationzl Archives (Markaz al-Wathilq al- Tarfkhiyya) will be abbreviated as MWT, S for sijift
and W for wathiga. The Public Record Office in London as PRO {FO = Foreign Office) and the Poliris-
ches Archiv of the Auswirtiges Amt in Bonn as AA. The yearbeok of the Oloman Province of Syria
(Striyye Vildyetini Silndmesi) will be sbbreviated Safnime volume {year hijri/ vear mildeli) page.
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times of cultural change. This is also true for the interpretation of collective and individ-
ual identities. ,

Four hundred years of Ottoman rule (1516-1918) have left a distinctive imprint on
the urban centers of Syria. Ottoman concepts of architecture have had a tangible influ-
ence on the institutions of Syria’s cities. The capital of the Ottoman province of Syria
(evalet Sham-e Sharifiwildyar Siuriyvya), Damascus, was significantly modified by the
construction of public buildings and houses, especially in the late nineteenth and early
twentieth ¢enturies. The aim of this chapter is to analyze some of the changing aspects
of urban layout and architecture and try to understand wether they are manifestations of
cultural change and identity.

Building modern Ottoman Damascus

Following the Tanzimat and the efforts of centralization and modernization during the
course of the second half of the nineteenth century and the beginming of the twentieth
century, the city of Damascus, like many other Ottoman cities, witnessed far-reaching
changes in its urban texture.” The return of Ottoman central power through its enlarged
facilities of administration, transportation (new streets, steam boats, and later railways),
and communication (telegraph) connected the town to a new international network and
had an overwhelming impact on Damascus. The urban texture of the city changed rap-
idly during the decades after the provincial reforms of 1864 right to the end of Ottoman
rule in Damascus in 1918. The city itself became the object of extensive town planning
carried out by a completely new administrative body.” A new water system, electric
sireetlights and tramways were mnstalled throughout the city between 1906 and 1907,
Many streets in the old town, infra and exira muros, were enlarged and various new

*  See, for the urban development of Damascus at that time, [, Sack, “The Historic Fabric of Damascus and
its Changes in the 19th and at the Beginning of the 20th Century,” in The Syrian Land. Processes of fnte-
gration and Fragmeniation in Bilad al-Sham from the 18% to the 20" Centry, od. T. Philipp end B.
Schaebler, Stutigant 1998, 185-202; D. Sack, Damaskus, Entwickfung und Strultiren einer orientaliseh-
istamischen Stadt, Mainz 1989, 38 ff; §. Weber, “Otioman Damascus of the Nineteenth Century: Artistic
and Urban Development as an Expression of Changing Times,” in Art Tuwrc/Turkish Art, Tenth Interna-
tional Congress of Turkish Arl; Genéve—Geneva 17-23 September 1995, Geneva 1999, 731-740.

' For the new administrative system which introduced administrative councils (majlis/majalis) on many
levels of urban organization and which had very strong integrative powers, scc ‘Abd al-*Aziz M. “Awwad,
al-Idara al-‘uthmanivya i wil@vat Siiriyya 1864-1914, Cairo 1969, 61 fF.; Carter V. Findlev, Burenucratic
Reform in the Oitoman Empire: The Sublime Forte, 1789-1922, Princeton 1980: Carter V. Findley, “The
Evolution of the System of Provingial Administration as viewed from the Centre,” Pofestine in the Late
Otoman Peried, ed. David Kushner, Jerusalem, Leiden 1986, 5 1, Moshe Ma'og, Ottoman Reform in
Syrie and Palestine 1840-1861. The Impaci of the Tanzimal on Politics and Society, Oxford 1968, 31 £,
Mahmud Yazbak, Haifa in the Lote Ottoman Period, [864-(914: A Musiim Town in Tramsition, Leiden
1998, 25 fT.
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streets were built throughout the city. Due to an enormous demographic growth, new
urban areas were settled and whole new quarters of the city founded (e.g. Muhajirin,
‘Afif, ‘Amas, Shuhad@’, Hijaz, Bardmka and Qassa‘: see fig. 1).

With the laying out of Marja Square a new public center was founded close to the
first Ottoman saray of the sixteenth-century Darwishiyya Street (see fig. 2). Numerous
administrative buildings, (such as the municipality building, two sarays, police head-
quarters, law court etc.), hotels, and modern transport facilities (railway stations and
tramway headquarters) were built.* Public places such as parks, coffee houses, and thea-
ters were located there and provided a space for growing public life and discussion.

The new Ottoman society

Within the Damascene elites this adoption of new principles of shaping public and pni-
vate architecture was accompanied and represented by titles, fashion, and higher educa-
tion; the best known example of this new fashion was the farbiish (fez) which replaced
the turban. Images of Damascene street scenes at the beginning of the twentieth century
indicate that throughout different social classes the farbish had become the most promi-
nent headwear, Other elements of clothing changed as well, and became a sign of a new
style of living. Moreover, titles like Bey (Bik), Efendi, and Pasha were lavishly granted.
Damascus seciety was changing, not least because of education reforms and new print
media. Tn the last five decades of Ottoman rule, more then seventy schools were
founded in the city — expanding the intellectual horizons of their pupils by new cumic-
ula. Newspapers, magazines, and the increasing number of printed books played an
important role in an intellectual innovation. The middle- and upper-class career paths,
characterized by academic, military, and civil service, are evidence of a vivid and un-
precedented exchange between Damascus and Istanbul. Ottoman state schoels, military
and administrative institutions, and new transport and communication links between the
two cities facilitated the increasing exchange that developed between the center of the
empire and one of its most important provincial capitals. Even before the new law of
citizenship in 1869 people in the empire were no longer Otfoman subjects
(re‘dva/ra’dyd) but Ottoman citizens (feba‘a/taba’): People from Damascus who had
profited from the new system or worked in the enlarged administration, and Syrian
graduates from the Miilkiye in particular, became protagonists of modernization within

*  See, for the Marja Square, S, Weber, *“Der Marga-Platz in Damaskus — Dic Entstchung eines modernen
Stadtzentrums unter den Osmanen als Ausdruck strukturellen Wandels (1808-1918)" Damaszener
Mitteilungen 10 (1998), 291-344, Taf. 77-88; and a summary in Weber, “Ottoman Damascus,” 732 ff.
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Ottoman society.® Dressed as modern Ottomans they introduced patterns of a new style
of living and of urban organization to the provinces of the empire.

The continuously growing Ottoman character of the townscape had started with the
modemization of the urban fabric of Damascus. But who built modern Ottoman Damas-
cus? What ideas influenced and motivated the owners of the buildings? Was it only the
Ottoman administration that was modernizing the city, or were private individuals and
groups of people belonging to other social classes involved as well? The example of the
siig will help us to answer these questions.

The modernization of a traditional urban institution: the late Ottoman sugq

(bazaar)

The siig, the commercial center of the city, is a good example of how urban institutions
changed. The building activities in the siq districts, intra and extra muros, were particu-
farly impressive. Nearly everything was rebuilt and, unlike bazaars in other towns of the
empire, several bazaars in Damascus conserve their late Ottoman structure. Starting in
the west at Marja Square, new or renovated bazaars connected the new city center with
the old markets at Taht al-Qal‘a. In this quarter huge new sugs were built to the south
and west of the citadel and led from there to the Umayyad Mosque and its surrounding
markets (see fig. 3). In addition, the traditional Ottoman bazaar area to the south and
southwest of the Umayyad Mosque was heavily restructured. Sugs such as al-
Hamidiyya, al-Khayyatin, al-Buziiriyya and Saq Midhat Basha were widened, and wide
shop?ing streets now connected the old city center 10 the new one in the west of the
city.

5 See, far the new social and intellectual elite, Corinne Lee Blake, Trainmg Arab-Ottoman Bureaucrals:
Syrian Graduates of the Miilkive Mektebi 1890-20, Princeton 1901, See further David Dean Commins,
Istamic Reform. Politics and Social Change in Late Hsoman Syria, New York, Oxford 1990; Caesar E.
Fargh, “Reformed Ottomanism and Social Change,” in: La Vie sociale dans les provinces arabes d lépo-
que ottomane, ed. A. Temimi, Zaghouan 1988, 139-149; Fatma Miige Gogek, Rise of ihe Bourgeoisie,
Demise of the Empire: Ottoman Westernization and Social Change, New York 1996,

6 See, for the sig of Damaseus, Nu‘méan Qas3tili, al-Rawda al-gitannd fi Dimashq al-Fayhd, Beirut [1879]
1982, 100 f: Nasir al-Rabbit, “Mugaddima hi-dirdsat Latawwur al-silq {i madinat Dimashg min al-garm al-
sbi' hattd l-qam al-thsi® ‘aghar milddi,” Les Annales Archéologiques Arabes Syriennes 38-39 (1988- 19889,
75-104: 'Abd al-Qidir al-Rihawi, “Khanat madinat Dimashg,” Les Annales Archéologiques Arabes Syri-
ennes 25 (1975), 47-82; G. Saba and K. Salzwedel, “Typologie der Chane in der Altstadt von Damaskus,”
Ph.D. thesls, Hamburg 1981; Sack, Damaskus, 33, map 11; Mohamad Scharabi, “Der Siiq von Damaskus
und zwei traditionelle Handelsanlagen: Khan Jagmag und Khan Sulaiman Pésha,” Damaszener Mitieilun-
gen | (1983), 285-305; Qutayba al-Shihabi, dswdg Dimashq al-gadima, Damascus 1990, Stefan Wehber,
“The Transformation of an Arab-Ottoman Institution: The Shq (Bazear) of Damascus from the Sixtzenth
to the Twentieth Century,” in Seven Ceniuries of Ottoman Architecture. “A Supra-National Herirage, "' ed.
N. Ak, A. Batur and 8. Batur, Istanbul 2000, 244-253; Fouad Yahia, “Inventaire archéologique des cara-

44



Reshaping Damascus
The layout of the modernized stgs

The new siigs looked quite different from their predecessors. With their modern design
— their regular fagades a la mode on two floors, large shops with glassed showcases,
stylish barrel-vaulted metal roofing, and their new construction materials such as steel
beams — they corresponded more to the modern arcades than to the image of the old
narrow, dark bazaars. The Siq al-Hamidiyya is a good example of this new style of
commercial building (see figs. 4, 5). In this almost straight bazaar street, nearly 450m
long, the 8.70m to 9.90m distance between the two rows of shops is much wider than in
a conventional siig. The structure of the fagades is regular for hundreds of meters. The
shops are much more spacious than before, when they were not meant to be entered -
the customer was served by the shopkeeper while standing outside. Now the window
displays and showcases of glass tempted the client to come in. Several shops had a sec-
ond-floor storeroom while others were open on two floors, The traditional, mainly plain
or gabled wooden roofing was replaced by huge barrel-vaulted wooden constructions in
the 1870s and 1880s. Later, afler a devastating fire in 1912, these were succeeded, by
order of the governor Nazim Pasha, by the barrel-vaulted metal roofing that we know
today (see fig. 5).”

F

TR | 10 15 20 Dikm

Plan 1: Wakalat al-'Ashshd, ground plan, ground floor and first floor

vansérails de Damas,” Ph.D. thesis, Aix-en-Provence n. d.; Fu'ad Yahyd, “Jard athari li-khdndt Dimashg,”
Les Annales Archéologiques Arabes Syriennes, 31 (1981), 67-106.

" PRO (FO 618-3/April 30, 1912). Compare, for the new roofing as well Salah al-Din al-Munajjid, Wular
Dimashg ft 'I-‘ahd al-uthmani, Damascus 1949, 94, fn, 3; Qutayba al-Shihabi, Dimashg, farikh wa-suwar,
Damascus 1990, 146: Ahmad Wasfi Zakariyyi, al-Rif al-siri, 2 vols., Damascus 1957, 11, 345,
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It was not only the bazaar streets themselves that were changed. The organization of
the whole commercial district altered as well. No new baths (khans) were built. Instead,
a type of wakala appeared for the first time, which was different in function to the
khans, Changes in transportation, especially the introduction of steambeats and trains,
meant that huge storage capacities were no longer needed. The little storage roems of
the shops in the second story of the modern siigs provided sufficient space. The new
style hotels at Marja Square, some of them with commercial and storage units, such as
the building of Ahmad “[zzat Pasha at-"Abid (1851-1924), drew the former clients of the
khdns for overnight stays.® Consequently the wakdlas from the tumn of the century do not
have the function of depots or of hotels. They were built specifically as shopping malls,
and have very small courtyards, modem fagades, and glass-fronted shops (see plan 1).

But who built the new commercial buildings? Who changed the shape, function, and
style of sigs and khans in order to correspond to shifts in the trade systems and new
tastes? Who modernizad the commercial center of the city? In my survey of more then
fifty sigs, khdns, and wakalas built or rebuilt in this period, I could find no traces of
building activity by foreigners. All these buildings {except banks) were erected by Ot-
toman governors, administrative councils, or local individuals. In the following pages 1
will provide some examples to demonstrate who was involved and how these changes
happened.

The municipality and the Sug al-Hamidiyya

Some govemors, such as Midhat Pasha (1878-80) were especially active in remaking the
commercial center, He built the long and widened sug, which bears his name, Sugq
Midhat Pasha. This 470m-long bazaar street was directly to the north of the old Straight
Street, a street-piercing measure designed to align this central axis of the street (the
ancient Via Recta). Furthermore, he enlarged the Stg al-Buzuriyya and framed both
bazaar streets with modern fagades. Some of the shop furnishings of the late nineteenth
century are still there, and provide an image of the original sig. On the other hand, the
new institution of the municipality {al-majlis al-baladi) played an important role in
creating the modemn texture of the city, The municipality was introduced in Damascus
following the provincial reforms of 1864. This modern urban institution, consisting of
elected members of the public, was responsible among others things for urban planning,
based largely on new principles. Owing to Ottoman yearbooks (salndme) we are well

*  See Scharabi, *Stq von Damaskus,” 289, fn. 23; al-Shihabi, Dimashg, 60 £; Weber, “Marga-Platz,” no.
3. See, for Ahmad 'Izzat Pasha al-' Abid Weber, “Zeugnissc,” 4% fF.
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informed as to who was elected to this council,” Unlike in Istanbul, Alexandria, or Jeru-
salem, the municipality of Damascus was not controlled directly or indirectly by foreign
interests or non-Ottomans.'® By law only an Ottoman subject of at least 30 years, who
was not employed in a foreign institution, had full civil rights, and only a citizen who
paid a yearly tax of at least 100 ghirsh on his property had the right to put himself for-
ward as a candidate for the municipal elections.'’ The sd@lndmes indicate that the 142
persons who were elected members of the municipality between 1871 and 1900 origi-
nated from about a hundred different Damascus families. It appears that no foreigner sat
on the council during this time, This is an important consideration for the modernization
of Damascus' urban structyres such as the sig.

The enormous and famous Siq al-Hamidiyya, for example, was erected due to this
publicly elected council of urban notables. Its eastern part was started in 1301/1883-
1884 and was finished in 1304/1886 or 1889 when it was first covered by a barrel-
vaulted wooden roof and connected the narrow Siq al-Jadid with the Siig al-Miskiyya
next to the Umayyad Mosque. It was cut through a former residential quarter as a street-
piercing measure. The Siiq al-Hamidiyya and other new commercial buildings — such as
wakdfas or smaller siigs branching off the Siiq al-Hamidiyya — were erected on house
plots. The new bazaar street was a very significant urban project, because now the old
city center of the Umayyad Mosque in the east was connected with the siigs of the new
city center at Marja Square in the west. it was not only members of the municipality
who seem to have been involved in the planning process of the sig, but members of
other families as well.

The Mardam Beks, one of the most important families of the time, erected several
modem-style commercial buildings close to the citadel.'” Among them are the Siq al-

¥ The Ottoman yearbooks for the province of Damascus exist in 32 volumes between the years 1285/1868-

1869 and 1318/1900-1901. It lists among many other things some undertakings of this council and its
members.

" Compare Ruth Kark, “The Jerusalem Municipality at the End of Ottoman Rule,” Asian and Aftican Stud-
ies 14 (1980}, 120 ff;; M. Reimer, “Urban Regulation and Planning Agencies in Mid-Nineteenth-Century
Alexandria and Istanbul,” Turkish Studies dssociation Bulletin (1996), 1-27; Sieven T. Rosenthal, The
Palitics of Dependency. Urban Reform in Istanbul, Westport 1980, 101 ff.; §. T. Rosenthal, “Minotities
and Municipal Reform in Istanbul, 1850-1870," in Christians and Jews in the Ottoman Empire, ¢d. B.
Braude and B. Lewis, Princeton 1982, 369-385.

" In the ai-Sham newspaper, 74 (Rajab 27, 1315/1897). Every male Ottoman subiect of at least 25 years,
with impunity and all rights, and who paid a yecarly tax of at least 50 ghirsh on his property had the right to
vote. See also Kark, “The Jerusalem Municipality,” 123; PRO (FO 6183 / April 6.4.1903). For every pol-
ling a epacial council was set wp to control the ¢lections. Compare al-Shdm, 73 (Rajab 21, 1315/1897).

'“" See, for the Mardam Bek family, Mubammad Al Taqi 'I-Din al-Husni, Kitdb muntakhabdt al-tawdrikh li-
Dimashg, ed. Kamdl al-Salibi, 3 vols, Beirat 1979, 11, 891 £; Philip 5. Khoury, Urban Notables and Arab
Nationalism. The Politics of Damascus [860-1920, Cambridge 1943, 41; Khalil Mardam Bek, Kitgh waqf
al-wazir Laid Mustafa Bishd wa-yelini kitah wagf Fatima Khdtiun, Damascus 1925; Tamim Ma'min Mar-
dam Bek, Tarajim al Mardam Bek fi khamsat quriin, 906-1419 h./1500-1998, Damascus 1998, 1, 2 fF;
Muhammud Famil al-Shatii, Avan Dimashg fil-qarn al-thalith ‘ashar wa-nisf al-garn al-vabi® ‘ashar, Da-

47



Stefan Weber

Biirg/Siiq al-‘Asriniyya al-Jadid and Stiq Mardam Bek/al-Tahhin on the northern side of
the Siiq al-Hamidiyya and two wakdlas on the southern side, It is interesting to note that
private houses and a graden had previously stood where the Mardam Bek buildings were
located. A court record of 1286/1869 mentions two houses of Muhammad Mardam Bek
and his son, ‘Uthman Mardam Bek and a ;arden of the Kilani wag/ rented by the Mar-
dam Bek family, exactly in this location,” This is why the plots of the eastern Sug al-
Hamidiyya are not as regular as one might expect from such new-drawn planning. The
edges of the commercial buildings most probably recall those of the houses and the
garden (see fig. 4). The brothers ‘Al (1225/1810-1305/1887) and ‘Uthman Mardam Bek
(1235/1819-1820 - 1304/1886-1887) were two of the most important figures at that time
and were among other members of the highest administrative council of the province,
the majlis al-idara.

It seems that the Mardam Beks were involved in the planning of the Siq al-
Hamidiyya in cooperation with the municipality. Certainly they could expect high prof-
its from commercial buildings here in the largest sig of Damascus, which became even
more prominent in 1894. In that year the western part of the Siiq al-Hamidiyya — first
known as the Siiq al-fadid — was opened to the public. To allow the construction of this
new sig, the older Siq al-Jadid, which ran parallel to the southern side of the citadel,
was torn down and the moat in between was filled. Here, unlike in the eastern Siiq al-
Hamidiyya, it then became possible to lay out the plots of land for the shops in a regular
manner. In this way the impressive sitg, which was named after Sultan Abdiilhamid II,
was completed before the tumn of the century on Damascene initiative.

The Siiq al-Hamidiyya had an enormous impact on the city and its new layout, recall-
ing contemporary arcades, and became the model for other siigs. Possibly the longest
shopping arcade in the world at the tun of the century, it is an impressive example of
the successfil modification of a classical urban institution in the light of modernity."
This change in design and redefinition of commercial buildings must have been a con-
scious effort. The famous journalist Khalil Sarkis (1258/1842-1333/1915) wrote proudly
in 1898 comparing to contemporary buildings in Europe: “The sigs of Damascus are so

mascus 1994, 316, 326; Linda Schatkowski Schilcher, Families in Politics. Damascene Factions and Es-
tates of the 18th and 19th Centuries, Statigart 1985, 104 £, 211; Weber, “Zeugnisse.” 53 ff.
HOMWT (MSh) S598/W 154 (1286/1869).
The 450m-long Soq al-Hamidiyya is noticeably longer then any arcade in Europe. The famous Galleria
Vittoric Emanuelle [T in Milan (1865-1877) amounts to a total length of 301.72m (longitudinal axis
196.62m, transversal axis 105.10m). The Passage du Caire in Paris (1799), the largest one in the city,
consists of three branches that run up to a total length of 370m., The Passage Brady in London (1828} had
a total length of 216m. For these arcades and others, see L.F. Geist, Passagen: ein Bautyp des 19,
Jatrhunders, Miinchen 1969, 228 £, 261, 284,
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Fig. 1: Urban growth between 1850 and 1918
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Fig. 5: 5dq al-Hamidiyya (collection Lemke)

{collection Weber)

Siig “AlT Pasha



Fig. 7. Siq al-Qishani

Fig. 8: S0g al-Khija
{source: [FAPCY)
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Reshaping Damascus

famous for their dimensions and beauty, that some high European politicians claimed,
that their like does not exist in their countries.”"’

The first modern s#g: the sig of ‘All Pasha

During the 1880s and 1890s the municipality also remodeled other s#gs, such as the Sig
al-Suriijivya, the Stuq al-Khayl, and the Suq al-‘Atig.'® Others, such as the sigs al-Khija,
al-QishinT, “Alf Pasha, or al-QudsT, have their origins in private initiative only. The very
first bazaar of a new type was built by ‘Ali Pasha. Previously destroyed, the building
measured 50m in length and it is known from seme rare historical photographs (see fig,
6) and from its original donation document (wagfivya). Concerning the wagfivya, the
Sig “Ali Pasha was endowed in 1292/1875 by Muhammad ‘Ali Pasha ibn Ismatl ibn
Muhammad al-Miirahli as wagf ahfi.'’ Like the later $tq al-Hamidiyya, the Stq ‘Alf
Pasha had an important urban function in connecting the Marja Square with the sguare
of Siiq al-Khayl and brought the new town center within the commercial life of the city.

The wagfiyya gives us a detailed picture of what the sug looked like. It was the first
in Damascus to have elaborate fagades on two stories, framing a wide and rectangular
street with large shops. This layout then became standard for all sigs that were built in
the following decades. Most probably these sifgs were inspired by the new European-
style arcades that were introduced in Istanbul around |870 and matched the traditional
Ottoman commercial buildings (siq, arasta, bedesten, carg) perfectly.'”

In Damascus a local Ottoman official initiated the first shopping street with a modern
layout. *Ali Pasha al-Mirahli {d. before 1881} heid one of the most prestigious positions
in the administration as trustee for the gifts to Mecca and Medina during the pilgrimage

' K. Sarkis, al-Shdm gabl miar ‘am. Riklat al-Jmbiritir Ghiliyim al-Thani, imbirafir Almaniva wa-
garinatini 13 Filasgin wa-Swrivya, 'am 1316 #/1398 m., [1898], cited after an edition by Hasan al-Samahi
Suwayrin, Damascus 1997, 114.

'*  The Siiq al-*Atig burned partially down in 1265/1849, See As'ad al-Ustawéni, al-Shaykh Muhammad Sa'id
al-Usiuwant: Mashahid wa-ahdath dimashgivea [t muntasal al-qarn al-1dsi® ‘ashar, 1256-1277 k, 1840-
F84im., Damascus 1994, 146. The horse market (Saq al-Khay!) was moved outside the town in 1 893- 1§94
and both Sogs (al-Khayl, al-"Atig) widely changed. See, for these changes Saladme ¥'{1306/1288-188%)
146, B(1307-1308/1890- 18911 155, ®(1210-1311/1893-1894) 26] f. See for these sigs Weber, *Marga-
Platz,” nos. 38, 17, 39,

" See for this sig MWT (MSh) S6700W 106 (1252/1875) [wagfivya], S7T3I1/W155 (1298/1881), 31038/ W128
(1314/1896); Weber, “Margia -Platz,” no, 35,

' The most famous of the arcades in Istanbul (Beyoghu/Pera) are presumably the Cigek Pasaji (Cité de Pera,
1876) or the Avrupa Pasaji (Avnal: Pasaji, 1871-1872). One should note here that the European arcades
were of conrse strongly inspired by the bazaar streets. See for the origin of Furopean arcades, Geist, Pas-
Fagen, 40 ff.
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(strva amini al-hajf)."® Court records throughout the nineteenth century prove that the
Miirahlis, who had been known in Damascus since the sixteenth century, lived in the
¢ity quarter of al-Qanawat.*

Different patterns can be distinguished in the modernizing of the bazaars of Damas-
cus, reflecting the circumstances of ownership and building plot. The impressive Siq al-
Qudsi consists of three streets in an F-shape with a total length of approximately 120m
that includes the Ottoman Bank.’' For this building the Qudsis — as did the Mardam
Beks in the case of the Suq al-Hamidiyya some decades earlier -- probably changed the
parcel of their dwelling into a commercial used plot in 1912.2 During the process of
reconstruction shortly after the big fire of 1912, which had destroyed many buildings
between the Siq al-*Asriniyya and Bab al-Barid, the Qudsis and other individuals such
as a certain Mr. al-‘Ashshd and al-Murddi undertook the erection of wakdles.” The
attraction of the new bazaar district around the Siq al-Hamidiyya must have been enor-
Mous.

Changing a wagf: the Siiq al-Qishani

Other buildings apart from houses were converted to commercial use. The Hammam al-
Qishani (981/1573-1574), which belonged to the wagf of the famous governor Darwish
Pasha (d. 987/1579), provides a geod example of functional changes. Court records give

" MWT (MSh) S670/W 106 {1252/1875) [wagfiya], STIL/WISS (1208/1881), For Muhammad ‘Ali Pasha
al-Murahll and his function as gurra amint, see also Randi Deguilhem, “Naissance et mort du wagqf damas-
cain de Hafiza Khimm al-MirahlT (1880-1951)," n Le wagf dans l'éspace islamigue outil de ponvoir
sociu-pelifigee, od, B, Deguilhem, Damascus 1995, 207 1,

B MWT (MSh) S250-W234 (1217/1802), S636/W276 (1280/1872), S7TIL/WLSS {1208/1881), S1038/W128
{1314/1896). For the MirahlTs, wee al-Husni, Muntokhabi: al-rawdrich, UL, 870; Weber, “Zeugnisse,” 154
f. and Deguithem in her article on the wagy of the wife of *All Pasha, Hafiza Khimlm al-Milrahli: Deguil-
hem, “Naissance et mott,”' 205 7. In 1298/1881 she endowed several shops in the Siq al-Arwim, Siq al-
Nisan, Siiq al-Jadid (later al-Hlarmidiyya), in Bab al-Barid and in Darwishiyya Street. Ses MWT (MSh)
S737/W245 (1298/1881) and Deguilhem, “Naissance et mort,” 209, 214

“ The Otoman Bank was erected in 131371895 and enlarged shortly sfter 1908. See Banque Impériale
(toman {[stanbul), Comité de direction (CDPY) 13, 16 février 1906; 14, PV 30 sep 1907 14, 22 oot
1907; 14, 18 aoft 1908; 14, 12 oct 1908; 15, 27 jan 1908; PRO (FO 618-3/ 30.4.1912); Weber, “Zeu-
gnissz,” 181 I, catalogue no. 4%,

2 A court record mentions 4 house al the Sig Bab al-Qal‘a, which is the same spot, and neighboring real
estales that were bought by S27d al-Qudsi from his uncle Muliyi 4-Din al-Qudsl in 1296/1878. See MWT
(MSh) ST24/W 184 {1296/187%). Maps and panorama photographs before 1912 show only houses at this
place.

¥ The British consul reports that the fire started on April 26, 1912 in the Khin al-Muridi and destroyed the
arca between Bab al-Band snd S0q al-'Asronivya comprising 370 shops, 4 khans, 40 houses, 3 money
changers' offices, and | mosque: PRO (FO 618-3/ Apel 30, 1912}, (FO 618-3/ Oct. 2, 1912).
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information about how the tenants of this wagf, Hafiz Efendi al-Kharbiitli and Shafiga
Khanum al-Ardrimi, developed the idea of changing the public bath, out of service
since 1905, into a sifg (see fig. 7). Backed by a legal certificate {farwad) of Mufii
Muhammad Salih Qatana they argued that in order to pay the rent to the wagf admini-
stration and to pursue the interests (masiaha) of the wag/ the function of the building
needed to be changed. Following this, a council of experts was set up by the wagf ad-
ministration, consisting of the two carpenters Muhammad ibn Ahmad al-Tawwim and
Sa‘7d ibn Kamdl Asfar and the architect Khawéja Habib al-Mi‘mdri ibn Lutfi Qarwashin
who studied the case in 1324/1906. They confirmed the bad condition of the building
and recommended it be changed into a sidg. After the case was decided positively and a
request for ratification (berdt/bara’a} sent to Istanbul, the Hammam al-Qishani was
rebuilt in a fashionable modem style as the Siq al-Qfshani and opened to the public
twelve months later.”

Copying the Sliq al-Hamidiyya: the siig of Raghib al-Khiija

Most of the sigs intra muros were only enlarged and remodeled. Patrons had few op-
portunities to acquire appropriate plots of land for new buildings, and as a result they
often had to change the function of structures instead, as seen in the case of the resi-
dences of the Mardam Beks, Qudsis, and that of the Siiq al-Qishani. The direct sur-
roundings of the citadel with its non-functioning, partially filled moats provided an
exceptional opportunity, as mentioned above, with the municipality taking the initiative
to enlarge and rebuild the Siq al-Jadid, transforming it into the western part of the Sig
al-Hamidiyya. Here, next to the citadel, private individuals were active too. The Siig
Nagri was erected above filled-in eastern moat around 1910, most probably through the
initiative of a certain Bashir Nasri.

The impressive 140m-long Siiq al-Khija already occupied the western moat (see
fig. 8).% This siig was built in two stages by Raghib al-Khija and his partner Bishara
Efendi Asfar on the model of the Siiq al-Hamidiyya. The southern main building (the Siq
al-Khiija al-Barrdni) was started in 1313/1895-1896. The northem part (the Siq al-Khiija

M See, for this egal case, MWT (MSh) §1275/W144 (1223/1906), 51275/ W33 (1324/1906). For further
mformation on the sifg MWT (MSh) S1378/W51 (1327/1909), al-Munajjid, Wulat Dimashg, 6, fn. 1,
Sack, Damaskus, No. 4.32; Akram al-TUlabi, Khitar Dimashg: divdea tarikhivya shamila, Damascus 1989,
461, 530; Karl Wulzinger and Carl Watzinger, Damaskis, die islamicehe Stady, Berlin 1924, Eid-g,

“* This corresponds to the dimensions of the 153m-long Friedrichstrallenpassdge (1908-1909} and 128.75m-
long Kaisergalerie (1871-1873) in Berlin and the total original length of 157.50m of the Passage in The
Hague (1883-1885). See Geist, Passagen, 133, 1431, 173, 176,
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al-Juwwini} was completed in 1323/1905.%° Its Damascene owner, Raghib ibn Rashid ibn
Muhammad al-Khija, worked in the military administration (al-d@ira al-‘askariyya al-
sultanivya). Like “Ali Pashaal-Marahli (Siiq ‘Ali Pasha) he lived in the city quarter of al-
Qanawit. His house, which we found with the help of court records, was by 1883 men-
tioned by al-Qayyati as one of the most lavishly decorated residences in the town.”

In his enterprises he could most probably count on the help of his brother Mahmiid
Efendi al-Khiija, who was president of the municipality when the sug was erected
(1316/1898-1899 and 1317/1899-1900).”® Righib al-Khilja’s partner, Bishira Asfar, had
also established close contacts with the local administration. He worked as dragoman for
the German consul and merchant Ernst Liitticke (1843-1904) and after his death even
acted as administrator for the German imperial consulate, During his many years in
German service (from 1877 to 1910) he became well known to the decision makers of
the city.” 1t is likely that Raghib al-Khiija was only able to gain access to the attractive
building plots next to the citadel and to carry out this enormous building project due to
his own position and those of his brother and his partner.

Private initiative: schools and other public buildings

It is interesting to note how many of these modern sugs were constructed through indi-
vidual initiative. Some, but not all, of those elected as local members of the Ottoman
councils became active in urban construction, Other buildings for public use, such as
hotels, restaurants, cafés, and mosques were erected through the private initiative of

% The history of this building, which was demolished in 1403/1982-1983, can be reconstructed due to court
records and historical photographs. See MWT (MSh) 51232/W3 (1320/1902), S1378/WH3 (1327/1509).
For further information see al-Husni, Munakhabdt altawarikh, 1, 278; Sack, Damasius, 41, 58, 5.14;
Scharahi, “Siiq von Damaskus,” 287, Tab. 64h; al-Shihabi, Aswdg Dimashg, 213, 219 £ al-"Ulabf, Khitat
Dimashg, 462; Weber, “Marga-Platz,” nc. 38; Weber, “Zeugnisse,” 166 ff., catalogue no. 208.

T MWT (MSh) S820/W2 (1303/1885), S1014/W106 (1311/1894), M.A. al-Qayyatt, Nafhai al-basham fi
riklat al-Sham, Beirut 1981, 127. See, for Raghib al-Khija, al-Husni, Muntakhabat al-tawarikh, 11, 907 1.
MWT S819°W24 (1303/1885), S1008/ W78 (131 1/1894), S1017T/W157, 1590 (1312/1894); al-Qavdtl, Ma-
fhat al-basham, 127,

#  Mshmid was elected into the Damascene municipality in 1315/1898 by 572 votes and in 1327/1309 by

308 votes, See, for Mahmdd Efendi al-Khija, al-Husni, Mustakhabdt al-tawdrikh, 11, 907 £; al-Mugtabas,

68 (17. Safar 1327/1909): al-Qayvati, MNafhat al-bashdm, 127, Salndme {1316/1898-1899} 125,

HM1317/1899-1900) 124; al-Sham, 85 (24. Shawwal 1315/1898),

Bishira Asfar was decorated geveral times with German medals and represented the German consul and

the viee-consul of Ausiris-Hungary if he was absent. Sce, for Bishara Asfar, AA (R141505, Aug_ 5, 1590),

(R141505, Aug. 2, 1894 to Aug. 14, 1894), (R141505, Dec. B, 1898), (R141505, May 12, 1899-Oct. 10,

1899), (R141505, April 21, 1901-April 2, 1902), (R141505; Feb. 8, 1904-March 22, 1904 ), (B141504,

Aug. 1, 1908-Mov. 24, 1908), (R141506, April 6, 1910). Sdlndme ''(1302/1884-1885) 98, "*(1303/1885-

1886) 83, "(1304/1886-1887} 72. For Liitticke ses: Weber “Zeugnisse,” 66 T,
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ordinary Damascene citizens. Private schools in particular bear witness of the Damas-
cenes desire to reform and modernize their city and society,

Schools are of major importance to social and intellectual change, and are catalysts of
modernization. Many schools were founded by missionaries (at least 12) or local Chris-
tian communities, with or without foreign aid (at least 13). Other educational institutions
were founded by the state (at least 15), which increased the number of its schools espe-
cially in the period of Abdiilhamid. The missionary school al-Madrasa al-‘Azariyya of
the Sceurs de Charité in Bab Tama and the first government secondary school, Maktab
“Anbar, were of particular importance.’ Both establishments played a distinctive role in
the creation of a new intellectual elite.

In addition to the many missionary and state schools one has to mention the semi-
governmental society of the Jam‘iyya Khayriyya li-Inshd’ al-Madaris (at least 15
schools) and the many private schools (madaris ahliyva, at least 15).*' The latter were
mainly founded by religious scholars who did not consider educational reform to be fast
enough and opened schools with new curricula in private houses or ruined wagf build-
mngs. This movement is a very interesting demonstration of the local will to reform. The
most prominent of these madaris ahlivya was the Madrasa al-‘Uthmaniyya, founded by
the Shaykh Kamil al-Qagsdb (1873-1954) in 1329/1911 in the Dar al-Quran wa’l-Hadith
al-Tankiziyya (728/1327).* Important persons of the Damascene Nakda such as ‘Abd
al-Wahhab al-Inkilizi (1878-1916) or ‘Arif al-Shihabi (1889-1916) were teaching here.
Thus the modemization of urban institutions carried out by local individuals was not
limited to the sidgs. This, of course, gives us no information on individual or collective

** Por the role of schools in late Ottoman Damascus socicty compare fin. § and, among others, Ahmad Hilmi

al-‘Allaf, Dimashg fi matla® al-garn al-ishrin, Damascus 1976, 196 £; ‘Awwid, al-Iddra al-uthmaniya,
254 {1.; Tskandar Liqd, of-Haraka al-adabivva fi Dimashg 1300-1918, Damascus 1976, 44 1. Qasatili, al-
Rawda al-ghannd, 119 £; ‘Abd al-Rahmin Sami Bek, Qaw/ al-hagq ff Bayrilt wa-Dimashg, Beirut 1981,
101 f.; Weber, “Zeugnisse,” 134 ff. On the Maktab ‘Anbar various articles and books have been published:
se¢ Farid Juhi, “Maktab ‘Anbar,” Les Annales Archéologigues Arabes Syriennes 35 (1985), 389-403; Mai-
I al-Murdbit, al-Nir wa'l-ndr ff Makiab ‘Anbar, Damascus 1991; Randi Deguilhem-Schoem, “Idées fran-
gaiscs et enseignement ottoman: 1"école secondaire Maktab ‘Anbar & Damas,” Revue du Monde Musulman
et de la Méditerrande, 52/53 (1989), 199-206; Zafir al-Qasimi, Maktab ‘Anbar, Suwar wa-dhikraydt min
hayating ai-thagdfivya wa'l-sivasiyva wa'l-ijtima‘iyya, Beirut 1964, Also compare Fakhri al-Barids, Mud-
hakkira: al-Bariadi, sittiing sana tatakaflam, 2 vols., Beimut and Damascus 1951-1952, 1, 30 ff,

I For the Jam'iyya Khayriyya li-Insha® al-Madaris see al-*Allaf, Magla® al-garn, 180 £; ‘Adnén al-Khatib, al-
Shaykh Tahir al-Jazd'ivi, Réid al-nahda al-Simiyya ff Bildd al-Sham, Cairo 1971, 105 ff.; Khalid Mu'adh,
“Madaris Dimashq qabl al-‘asr al-‘uthmini,” in Dimashq: Dirdsat tdrikiiyva wa-athariyya, ed. Muodiriyya
lil-Athdr wa'l-Mai3hif, Damasens 1980, 119 £ Qasatily, al-Bawda al-ghannd, 119 f.; Schatkowski Schil-
cher, Families in Politics, 199; Weber, “Zeugnisse,” 136. And for the maddris akliyya: al-' AlISf, Matia® al-
qarn, 196 £, 200 £; 'Awwad, al-Iddra al-uthmdniyya, 263 I¥; al-Baridi, Mudhakkiraz, T, 21 1; Liga , ai-
Haraka al-adabivya, 47 1.; Weber, "Zeugnisse,” 137 £, %

#  See, for Shaykh Kamil a1-Qasgab, al-Husni, Muntekhabat al-tawdrikh, 11, 913; Khayr al-Din al-Zirkli, ai-
Alam: Qamis tardiim li-ashhar al-rijal wa'l-nis@ min al-“areb wa' Emusta'ribin wo'l-mustashrigin, &
vols., 14” ed., Beirut 1999, VI, 13,
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identities, but it emphasises the fact that Damascene society, or at least part of it, shared
actively or even initiated the reorganization of this Middle Eastern society and its urban
structures in the late Ottoman period.

The role of foreigners in reshaping Damascus

Throughout the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries the number of foreigners resid-
ing in the city was small, unlike Beirut or Istanbul, John Bowring remarked in 1840 that
“the European costume is scarcely ever seen; and, with few exemptions, I believe the
Frank settlers have adopted the Syrian dress."” Some establishments were opened by
non-Damascenes, for example a certain Ottoman-Greek (?) called Khawéja Dimitri al-
Likandaji ibn al-Khawdja Jarji ibn Dimitr1 lzmir, whose family owned the first hotel in
Damascus and a modern café at Marja Square.”® Except for the missionary institutions
one can find only a very few building of foreign origin such as the German Palestine
Bank, which opened a branch in the Siq al-‘Asriiniyya next to the citadel in 1910, but
the director of the bank, Timotheus Waurst, only lived in Damascus for a few years.”

Following the Tanzimat and the provincial reforms of 1864 foreign influence still
remained limited. The British consul mentioned in 1870 that after the riots of 1860 only
20 foreigners were h'ving in the town. At the same time 4,000 foreigners were perma-
nently living in Beirut.®® Qasatili records in 1879 around 350 and Sami Bek in 1890
around 400 non-Ottoman subjects in Damascus.” A lot of them must have been proté-
gés of consulates and individuals from the Balkans, Persia or North Africa. According to
the Kélnische Zeitung the German community was in 1912 the largest among those of
the Europeans and counted some 40 individuals.* In 1912 Hichens stressed what he saw
as the non-foreign character of the town:

¥ John Bowring, Report on the Commercial Statistics of Syria, London 1840, repr. New York 1973, 52.

“  This person is mentioncd in MWT (MSH) S1275/W126 (1323/1905), for the two buildings, sec Weber,
“Marpa-Plate,” nos. 22, 46.

% Gae, for the bank, AA (R141506, Oct. 25, 1909), (R141506, May 22, 1912); Karl Baedcker, Palestine ef

Syrie: Manuel du Vovageur, 4 ed., Leipzig 1912, 295 (map p. 300); PRO (FO 618-3 / 4.4.1910); Websr,
“Zeugnisse,” 179 ff.; Wulzinger and Watzinger, Isiamischen Stad, BE/3-1.
Wurst, born 1874 in Jaffa, held as well the post of the Dutch vice-consul and in 1913 became German
consul for a short time. Afler the death of Emst Liitticke, Wurst was the only German in Damascus for se-
veral years. In 1914 he left Damascus to become the director of the German Palestine Bank in Baghdad.
Sec AA (R141505, May 31, 1903), (R141505, Dec. 18, 1905), (R141506, 11.11.1906 until April 10,
1907], (R141506, March 17, 12); (R141505, Jan. 14, 1914), (R141506, June 2, 1914).

¥ Gehatkowski Schilcher, Families in Politics, 68, fn. 37.

¥ Qusitili, al-Rawda al-ghannd, B talks about “Afranj wa-Yinan." Sami Bek, ai-Qawl al-hagg, 61 § lisia
Europeans scparately from Persians, Kurds, and people from the Maghreb.

¥ Kslinische Zeitung, 619, (June 1, 1912).
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..still thoroughly Oriental. Cairo has become horribly official and cosmopolitan; Algiers
and Tunis are very French; Jerusalem is the home of religious sects: Beirut contains num-
bers of Italians, Maltese, Greeks, and Americans: but the fer prevails in the streets and ba-
zaars of Damascus, where once, during a four-hour walk through the principal quarters, [
did not meet one man who was not an Eastern or see one house which looked European.
Even the trams ... scarcely interfere with the Eastern atmosphere *

At the beginning of the twentieth century some foreign experts, such as P. Apéry, were
employed by the authorities, Apéry was the highest municipal engineer at the turn of the
century.*’ But the number of these experts remained limited until at least World War 1.
A modern Ottoman Damascus developed with little direct foreign influence and is there-
fore an important case study for investigating the change of a society and its urban or-
ganization in the period of reforr. But how many people were involved in this process
and how much self-awareness did the people of Damascus have when remodeling their
city? Another urban architectural feature that may help us here is the private house, built
more or less entirely by private initiative.

The new lifestyle

This reorganization of an entire Arab metropolis, its urban fabric, its architecture and a
large part of its social organization is clearly visible in this most private aspect of urban
architecture, Houses were extensively build or reconstructed during this time.*"! Cer-
tainly a new era calls for a new style and the continuous building activities allowed the
integration of new ideas, During this enormous reshaping of the city it was possible to
rebuild in the latest fashion and to adopt new techniques of construction and decoration.

" Robert Hichens, The Holy Land, London 1913, 53, 79,

¥ See for example Salngme {1317/1899-1900) 125. The cngineers of the municipelity were mainly of
Arab-Otteman origin, Only a very few non-Arab names are given, such as Wasilyadis Efendi as second
engineer. See Joridat al-Shim, 93 (27. Dhii 1-Hijja 1315/1898): Sdindme P(1315/1897-1898) 99,
1317/1899-1000} 98. And a certain Monseigneur Barsisti was a member of the offices of engineers of
the municipality. See Salname "* (1298/1880-1881) 84. During World War 1 Jamal Pasha emploved some
foreign experts such as Max Zircher, Karl Wulzinger, Theodor Wiegand, Mr. Miihlens, Mr, Salz, Mr.
Wilbuschewitsch and Mr. Stréckle. The architect Fernando de Aranda {1878-1969), who lived his entire
life in Syria and Tutkey and who was of Spanish origin, drew the plans for some important buildings, See,
for de Aranda, Eugenio Garcia Gascon, “El arguitecto espaflol Fernando de Aranda (1878-1969) en Dam-
asco,” Awridg Estudios sobre el Mundo arabe e istdmico contempordneo, 9 (1988), 67-100. For all the
names mentioned here Weber, “Zengnisse,” 82 f,

! See, for the changes of houses in late Ottoman Damascus so far, 8, Weber, "Images of Imagimed Worlds,
Self-image and Worldview in Late Ottoman Wall Paintings,” in The Empire in the City: Avab Provincial
Capitals in the Late Ottorman Empire, ed, J, Hanssen, T. Philipp and 8. Weber, Beinuter Texte und Studien
vol. B8, Beirut 2002. More than thres-quarters of the roughly 600 houses investigated during my survey
were substantizlly rebuilt or were entirely new in this period. This corresponds to official numbers.
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There is much to say about the layout and deceration of houses, which underwent sig-
nificant changes and became closer to Istanbul models than ever before. With the cen-
tral-hall house an entirely new house type was imported into Damascus from the Otto-
man centre.*

The depiction of “star and crescent” became widespread. In many houses belonging
to Muslim, Christian, or Jewish merchants, scholars, officials, and others, one can find
this Ottoman emblem in architectural decoration. The same holds true for military ar-
mory and the sultanic emblem (fughra). This phenomenon is not seen before the Tanzi-
mat period, nor were any official rules issued conceming the decoration of houses. Yet
there was apparently a common idea of how an Ottoman citizen of that time would build
his home. An investigation of the architectural decoration helps to recomstruct some
aspects of this notion. Wall paintings in particular are very informative.* The most
frequently painted motifs are imaginary views of the Bosporus or of the capital itself,
All over Damascus one finds imagined images of the Bosporus. The sheer number of
pictures provides evidence that the Bosporus was a motif with a very special meaning.

The “sweet waters of Asia,” the area around the Gilzelsu and Kiigiiksu rivers next to
the Bosporus, became for European travelers in the nineteenth century a byword for the
Ottoman high life. In Ottoman literature life on the Bosporus was often celebrated. The
images in the wall paintings give an idea of the place and a certain feeling of a time that
everybody can recognize and connect to. It represents a way of life, probably adopted by
most ¢itizens of Damascus who had wall paintings in their houses. This might explain

2 gee, for the central-hall house in Damascus, Weber, "Marga-Platz,” 317 £, Weber, “Otoman Damascus,”
733 ff,; Weber, “Zeugnisse,” 255 {T., 298 ff. In the last years the central-hall {s0/a) house or konak-style
house safa was discussed widely especially by the Groupe de Recherche sur U'Architecture au Levant, a
network by e-mail started by May and Michael Davie (URBAMA Tours). See so far: Hakki Sedad Eldem,
Tiirk evi oxmanly diimemi, Turkish Houses Ottoman Period, 3 vols,, [stanbul 1984-1987, 1, A 33 fT,; Zey-
nep Merey Enlil, "Residential Building Traditions and the Urban Culture of Istanbul in the nineteenth
Century,” in Seven Centuries of Oteman Architecture, ed. N. Akin, A. Batur, and S. Batur, Istanbul 2000,
M6-315; AR. Fuchs and M. Meyer-Brodnitz, “The Emergence of the Central Hall House type in the
Context of Mincteenth Century Palestine,” in Dwellings, Setlements and Tradition. Cross-Cultural Pers-
pectives, ed. 1.-P. Bourdier and N, Alsayyad, New York 1989, 403-423; Reha Glnay, Tirk Ev Gelene@i ve
Safranboin Evieri, Istanbul 1998, 59 £; Anne Mollenhauer, "“The Central Hall House. Regional Communi-
ty and Local Specificities: A Compariscm between Beirut and al-Salt,” in The Empire i the City: ed. J.
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why one finds the same view of the capital in nearly all wall paintings in Damascus in
such a limited period of time (¢.1820-1915). Moreover, the Bosporus is always depicted
crowded with ships — and from the 1830s onwards with steamboats. Damascus is not a
harbor town, thus ships were not a part of everyday life. The hundreds of ships featured
in wall paintings in Damascus are nearly always flagged with the Ottoman banner, as
are the military buildings beside the water (see fig. 9). There are many imaginary
mosgues always easy to distinguish as being Ottoman.

From these paintings one can suppose that many people in Damascus did not have
any particular problems in connecting symbols of Ottoman identity to their homes, Arab
nationalism, at that time still restricted to a small part of the intellectual elite, did not yet
find an expression in the material culture of the city. All other aspects of Damascene
interior decoration point in the same direction of an Ottoman identity. A new style of
decoration, usually featuring motifs with the star and crescent, was common in nearly all
houses of that period. Modernization mainly reached Damascus via Istanbul, which
orientated the “modern Damascene mind™ in that direction. The Ottoman capital was the
main source of inspiration and symbols of modemization, like the steambeoats in the
Bosporus, flying the Oftoman flag,

Architectural decoration also gave evidence of an awareness of a new time, parallel to
the time people in Istanbul or Europe were hiving and acting in. For example, one can
find wall paintings in Damascus depicting events that happened in Europe, which is a
creation of simultaneity and is a direct connection between the local realm and the world
‘outside.’

Conclusion

When examining the material culture of Damascus at the end of the nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries one can state that the often-mentioned stagnation, or even decline, in
urban socicties under late Ottoman rule does not hold for Damascus, one of the classical
cities of the Islamic world. The modem si#g and many other institutions in Damascus
were not only the product of high-ranking Ottoman officials in Istanbul seeking fo im-
pose their desire for modernization on a reactionary and alien local society, nor were
they initiated by a detached community of foreign missionaries and merchants. It is
often said how important foreign influence was to the process of reshaping Middle East-
emn cities such as Beirut, Cairo, Alexandria, Izmir, or Istanbul in the nineteenth century.
This is cerfainly true, but not for the whole picture. The rale of local urban societies in
this process is generally underestimated. Damascus provides an example of how the
modernization of an entire classical [slamic urban center was carried out by the Ottornan
administration, and especially by the citizens of this town.
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Regarding the buildings themselves, one can discern two main tendencies. On the one
hand, traditional urban building types (such as the khans and sitgs) were adapted to the
new time. The new siigs, for example the Siiq al-Hamidiyya, were an outcome of an
effort by people from Damascus to modernize their city and commercial buildings, such
as the Wakilat al-“Ashsha, and testifies that this is not only a question of taste. On the
other hand, architectural decoration and comments to these buildings give us an idea of
how the inhabitants of Damascus perceived themselves at that time. Obvicusly, many
people in Damascus found access to the modern world through their identity as citizens
of the Ottoman Empire. It seems that many people in Damascus considered themselves
an integral part of the Ottoman Empire and the modern world. One reason for this was
most probably that it could provide a specific role or a particular position in the modem
world, which was drawing closer. Direct contacts and travels, personal anecdotes,
books, postcards, newspapers, new curricula in schools all gave an idea of the world
outside Damascus and the Ottoran Empire. One can observe a clear tendency towards a
modem Ottoman character of town and society in the late nineteenth and early twentieth
centuries on many different levels (clothing, housing, public life, administrative and
urban organization, training, etc.). Many people in Damascus displayed symbols of
Ottoman identity in their private architecture and dress. The initiative in reshaping mod-
em Ottoman institutions (except administrative buildings) — as seen in houses, schools,
and commercial buildings — came from local individuals and administrative councils
rather than governors. Modern public spaces were created, such as the new szugs or the
new town center of the Marja Square with its parks, coffeehouses, and theaters (mainly
initiated by the municipality or private individuals). Most Damascenes rebuilt their
houses along the same modernizing Ottoman lines. Modernism and Ottomanism were
closely cormected. Oftoman symbols were deliberately displayed in houses all over the
town and combined with diverse symbols of the modern world: steam-boats, factories,
railways, and, later on, aeroplanes. Even in the infimacy of their homes, in their salons
and vestibules, Damascenes displayed themselves as Ottoman citizens of the modern
world.
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